UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

	X
David Wittman, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,	: : CASE NO. 2:22-cv-04023
Plaintiff,	: CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
v.	: JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
KSF Acquisition Corporation,	:
Defendant.	: : :
	X

Plaintiff David Wittman ("Plaintiff"), on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, brings this class action against Defendant KSF Acquisition Corporation ("Defendant" or "KSF") based on Defendant's false and deceptive advertising and labeling of its SlimFast smoothie and shake mix products. Plaintiff makes the following allegations based on the investigation of his counsel, and on information and belief, except as to allegations pertaining to Plaintiff individually, which are based on his personal knowledge.

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. This case is predicated on a systemic course of false, misleading, and unlawful conduct: Defendant has falsely and deceptively misrepresented the amount of protein in its SlimFast smoothie and shake mix products (the "Products"). 1

¹ The Products include the following: (1) SlimFast Original Meal Replacement Shake Mix; (2) SlimFast Advanced Nutrition Smoothie Mix; (3) SlimFast Diabetic Weight Loss Meal Shake; and (4) SlimFast Advanced Immunity Smoothie Mix.

- 2. The Products are one of the nation's leading smoothie and shake mixes, and Defendant is one of the nation's leading manufacturers of these products. Consumers trust Defendant to be transparent and sincere in its advertising, rather than deceitful and misleading. Unfortunately for consumers, this is not Defendant's practice with respect to its marketing and advertising of the Products.
- 3. Specifically, on the front label of each of the Products, Defendant prominently places a representation, which promises a specific amount of protein in each serving of the Product (e.g., "20g HIGH PROTEIN") (hereinafter, the "Protein Representation").² Consumers understand this message simply: each serving of the Products' smoothie/shake mix contains the number of grams of protein promised on the front label.
- 4. However, unbeknownst to consumers, the shake mix contains far fewer grams of protein than what is promised in the Protein Representation. Instead, the Products require *milk* to be added in order to obtain the grams of protein advertised in the Protein Representation.
- 5. Nothing on the Products' front packaging discloses to consumers that they must add milk to receive the protein promised in the Protein Representation.
- 6. Plaintiff and other consumers purchased the Products based on the reasonable belief that they would receive the grams of protein per serving promised in the Protein Representation from the Products alone. Had Plaintiff and other consumers known the truth—i.e., that consumers must add milk to obtain the grams of protein promised in the Protein Representation—they would not have purchased the Products or they would have paid less for them. Thus, Plaintiff and other consumers have suffered economic injury as a result of Defendant's deceptive marketing. Plaintiff and other consumers have also suffered a financial injury in the form of paying a price premium for a greater amount of protein than what was provided to them.

2

² See Paragraph 16, *infra*, for an example of the Protein Representation.

7. Plaintiff seeks relief in this action individually, and on behalf of all other similarly situated individuals who purchased Defendant's falsely and deceptively labeled Products, seeking to prevent Defendant from continuing to falsely advertise the Products in the future, and obtain monetary compensation for purchases of the Products.

PARTIES

I. Plaintiff

8. Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and the State of New York, and currently resides in Merrick, New York. In or around May 2022, Plaintiff purchased the SlimFast Advanced Nutrition Smoothie Mix Vanilla Cream Product from a Walmart in Uniondale, New York and a Target in Levittown, New York. In purchasing the Product, Plaintiff saw and relied on the Product's "20g HIGH PROTEIN" representation on the Product's front label. Based on this representation, Plaintiff believed that the smoothie mix itself contained 20 grams of protein per serving. Plaintiff's reasonable belief that the Product's shake mix contained the number of grams promised in the Protein Representation was an important factor in his decision to purchase the Product. Plaintiff would not have purchased the Product, or he would have paid less for it (i.e., he would not have paid a price premium), but for the aforementioned misrepresentation. Because he did not receive the number of grams of protein from the Product as promised, Plaintiff suffered injury in fact and lost money as a result of Defendant's misleading, false, unfair, and deceptive practices, as described herein.

II. Defendant

9. KSF Acquisition Corporation is a Delaware corporation that maintains its principal place of business and headquarters in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida. It markets and distributes the Products throughout New York and the United States. The Products are sold in grocery stores such as Target and Walmart.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 10. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. §1332(d) in that: (1) this is a class action involving more than 100 Class members; (2) the parties are minimally diverse, as members of the proposed class are citizens of states different than Defendant's home state; and (3) the amount in controversy is in excess of \$5,000,000, exclusive of interests and costs.
- 11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it conducts and transacts substantial business in New York, and intentionally and purposefully placed the Products into the stream of commerce within New York.
- 12. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiff's claims occurred in this District. Namely, Plaintiff purchased the Product in this District.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. <u>Defendant Misleads Consumers About the Amount of Protein in Each Serving of the Products</u>

- 13. Defendant owns SlimFast, one of the leading dietary shake and smoothie mix brands in the United States. Consumers trust Defendant to be honest and forthright in its advertising and marketing of its products, including the Products at issue here.
- 14. Despite this trust, Defendant has engaged in false and deceptive advertising in the marketing and sale of the Products.
- 15. For example, as demonstrated below, on the front label of each of the Products, Defendant prominently places a representation which promises a specific number of grams of

protein in each serving of the smoothie or shake mix (e.g., "20g HIGH PROTEIN") (hereinafter, the "Protein Representation").



16. Based on the foregoing example, a reasonable consumer would expect the smoothie mix to contain 20 grams of protein per serving. However, unbeknownst to

consumers, the SlimFast Advanced Nutrition Smoothie Mix does not contain "20g HIGH PROTEIN" per serving but instead, contains only *12g of protein per serving*. This means that the Product fails to provide 40% of the promised grams of protein per serving.

- 17. Defendant's other Products suffer from the same flaw. Most shockingly, SlimFast's Original Product promises "10g PROTEIN" per serving, but the mix only contains 2g of protein per serving. The Original Product fails to provide a considerable 80% of the promised grams of protein.
- 18. The Advanced Immunity Product similarly promises "20g PROTEIN" per serving, but only provides 12g of protein per serving. The Diabetic Weight Loss Products promise 10-11g of protein per serving, but provide only 2-3g of protein per serving.
- 19. Nothing on the Products' front packaging discloses to consumers that they must add milk to receive the protein promised in the Protein Representation.
- 20. As a result, Defendant's labeling of the Products is false and deceptive, and misleads reasonable consumers.
- 21. Complaints by other purchasers of the Products show that this deception is not an isolated incident experienced by Plaintiff. Below are a few of many complaints by consumers of the Products regarding this precise issue:³



Jenny

★☆☆☆☆ Misleading and fraudulent information

Reviewed in the United States on November 27, 2018

Style: Advanced Nutrition | Flavor Name: Vanilla Cream | Size: 12 Servings (Pack of 1) | Verified Purchase

This product does not contain the 20 grams of protein it claims. It only contains 12 grams of protein per serving. In order to reach the 20 grams you have to mix it with 8 oz. of dairy milk. If you are lactose intolerant or just avoid dairy this is not doable. All through the description of this product it claims that the "powder" contains 20 grams of protein. False and misleading. When I complained to the company, they said they were sorry and that I should return the product if I was unhappy. Great! So now I have to pay the return shipping to send back a product I was duped into buying. Wow! Thanks for nothing!

355 people found this helpful



★☆☆☆☆ Do not waste your money

Reviewed in the United States on September 29, 2019

Style: Advanced Nutrition | Flavor Name: Vanilla Cream | Size: 12 Servings (Pack of 2) | Verified Purchase

It contains a deceiving wrapper making you think that the protein grams you will get are from the shake powder, but in reality they are counting the milk's protein on the grams advertised. I cant drink milk so it was such a waste of money. Any other protein brand indicates the protein grams in yhe from of the label for the powder only, then will have a chat with or without milk on the nutritional facts.



★☆☆☆☆ This product only has 2g protein as compared to the advertised 10g!!

Reviewed in the United States on June 9, 2020

Flavor Name: Rich Chocolate Royale | Size: 34 Servings (Pack of 1) | Verified Purchase

It advertises 10g protein If you look on the Nutritional Facts it's only 2g protein and only 10g if you mix it with non fat milk! False advertising. What if you mix it with water or something other than milk? They shouldn't put that on the front of the can if that's not accurate. I decided to go with Pure Protein powder that I found on amazon. Around the same price, 25g of protein and only 4g of sugar compared to the 11g with this product. Also around the same calories. Way better for your body.



Christine A Berger

★☆☆☆☆ CONTAINS **TWO** GRAMS OF PROTEIN

Reviewed in the United States on September 13, 2018

Flavor Name: Rich Chocolate Royale | Size: 34 Servings (Pack of 1) | Verified Purchase

The product arrived and I was furious to see it contains only 2 grams of protein. I feel the marketing is blatantly misleading in repeatedly stating 10 grams of protein. The other 8 is from milk you have to add yourself; it's also strongly implied this product is ready-to-drink with water like the familiar cans. I looked at my husband's hot cocoa mix and it's literally the same amount of protein and calories; 2 grams protein and 100 calories. And at least the cocoa I could drink mixed with water! I am seeking a refund. This is not a nutritional product and I don't feel it would add any health or wellness benefits over just drinking a glass of plain milk.

- 22. Notably, other smoothie and shake mix manufacturers advertise on their products' front labels the amount of protein that consumers will receive based on the *products* alone, irrespective of whether the consumer adds milk or any other ingredient.
- 23. As demonstrated below, one of the nation's leading nutrient supplement companies, Nestle's Garden of Life, advertises the grams of protein consumers receive *solely* from the content of its Garden of Life Fit High Protein For Weight Loss dietary shake product.⁴ The product's front label advertises "28 grams" of protein per serving, and this is precisely what consumers receive from the product's contents alone.

⁴ https://www.amazon.com/Garden-Life-Organic-Meal-Replacement/dp/B01NA7VLNL/ref=sr_1_16?crid=1XIVG45GIOYG2&keywords=Protein% 2Bshake%2Bmix&qid=1649130728&rdc=1&sprefix=protein%2Bshake%2Bmi%2Caps%2C 154&sr=8-16&th=1 (last visited July 8, 2022).



Supplement Facts

Serving Size 1 Level Scoop (About 46.5g) Servings Per Container 20

	Amount Per Serving	% Daily Value
Calories	180	,
Total Fat	3 g	4%1
Saturated Fat	0.5 g	3%1
Trans Fat	0 g	
Polyunsaturated Fat	1 g	
Monounsaturated Fat	1 g	
Sodium	280 mg	12%
Total Carbohydrate	11 g	4%1
Dietary Fiber	4 g	14%1
Soluble Fiber	2 g	
Insoluble Fiber	2 g	
Total Sugars	<1 g	+
Includes 0g Added Sugars		0%1
Protein	28 g	38%1
Vitamin D	25 mcg (1,000 IU)	125%
Calcium (naturally occurring)	150 mg	12%
Iron (naturally occurring)	3 mg	17%
Potassium (naturally occurring)	90 mg	2%
Vitamin A	280 mcg	31%
Vitamin C (naturally occurring)	1.2 mg	1%
Vitamin E (from Sunflower Oil)	15 mg	100%
Vitamin K	130 mcg	108%
Magnesium (naturally occurring)	27 mg	6%
Chromium (from Brown Rice Chelate)	35 mcg	100%

24. Another of the nation's leading nutrient supplement companies, Nature's Bounty, advertises its Complete Protein & Vitamin Shake Mix⁵ in the same manner.



⁵ <u>https://www.amazon.com/Natures-Bounty-Complete-Collagen-Chocolate/dp/B08YS3TWTT/ref=sr_1_6?crid=1XIVG45GIOYG2&keywords=Protein+shake+mix&qid=1649130728&sprefix=protein+shake+mi%2Caps%2C154&sr=8-6 (last visited July 8, 2022).</u>

DIRECTIONS: Mix two (2) scoops (33 g) with 8 oz of water. To increase the protein content to more than 20 grams per serving and enjoy a creamy texture, mix with 8 oz of skim milk. Shake can also be enjoyed by mixing with you favorite vegetarian milk alternative. Best served ice cold.

Supplement Serving Size 2 Scoops (33 g)		
Servings Per Container about 13		
Amount Per Serving		%Daily Value
Calories	110	
Total Fat	3 g	4%*
Saturated Fat	1 g	5%**
Cholesterol	25 mg	89
Total Carbohydrate	11 g	4%*
Dietary Fiber	6 g	21%*
Total Sugars	2 g	**
Includes 2g Added Sugars		4%*
Protein	15 g	30%*
Vitamin C (as Ascorbic Acid)	60 mg	679
Vitamin D (as D2 Ergocalciferol)	20 mcg (800 IU)	100%
Thiamin (Vitamin B-1) (as Thiamin Hydrochloride)	1.5 mg	1259
Riboflavin (Vitamin B-2)	1.7 mg	1319
Niacin (as Niacinamide)	20 mg	1259
Vitamin B-6 (as Pyridoxine Hydrochloride)	2 mg	1189
Folate	666 mcg DFE (400 mcg Folic Acid)	1679
Vitamin B-12 (as Cyanocobalamin)	6 mcg	2509
Biotin (as d-Biotin)	300 mcg	1,0009
Pantothenic Acid (as d-Calcium Pantothenate)	10 mg	2009
Calcium	230 mg	189
Iron	3 mg	179
Phosphorus	230 mg	189
Magnesium	50 mg	129
Sodium	100 mg	49
Potassium	380 mg	89
Digestive Enzyme Blend Bromelain (from Pineapple), Papain (from Papaya fruit)	11 mg	
Flaxseed which typically contains:	888 mg	**
Alpha-Linolenic Acid (Omega-3)	218 mg	**
Other Fatty Acids		
Collagen	3 g	1575

- 25. Thus, it is more than reasonable for consumers to rely on the Protein Representations on the front label of the Products, especially when they are accustomed to seeing dietary shake mix products' front labels advertise the grams of protein based on the protein contained in the products *alone*.
- 26. The number of grams of protein contained in the Products is a material factor to Plaintiff and other reasonable consumers as the Products serve as nutritional shakes and meal replacements and protein is an essential nutrient for the human body.
- 27. Defendant's decision to highlight the purported protein in the Products through the conspicuous Protein Representation, in addition to the purchasing decisions and beliefs from consumers such as Plaintiff and the reviews depicted above, further demonstrate the materiality of the Protein Representation.
- 28. As the entity ultimately responsible for the manufacturing and advertising of the Products, Defendant is responsible for the accuracy of the information conveyed about the Products, including the representations on the front packaging.
- 29. Defendant knew or should have known that the Products' advertising is deceptive, and that reasonable consumers would believe the Products contain the number of grams of protein per serving promised on the Products' front label.
- 30. Through the use of misleading representations, Defendant commands a price that Plaintiff and the Class would not have paid had they been fully informed. Had Plaintiff been aware that the Product was falsely labeled, he would have purchased a different product or paid significantly less for it. Alternatively, had Plaintiff been aware that the Product was falsely labeled he would not have purchased the Product at all.
- 31. By the use of misleading representations, Defendant created increased market demand for the Products and increased its market share relative to what its demand and share would have been had it marketed the Products truthfully.

32. Plaintiff and members of the Class were exposed to and justifiably relied upon the same material misrepresentations (i.e., the Protein Representation) throughout the class period. As such, this case fits squarely within the parameters for class certification.

CLASS DEFINITION AND ALLEGATIONS

33. Plaintiff brings this matter on behalf of himself and those similarly situated. Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (the "Rules" or "Rule"), Plaintiff seeks to represent the following class:

All residents of New York who purchased the Products in New York for personal, family, or household consumption and not for resale within the applicable statute of limitation ("New York Class").

- 34. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the Class definition if discovery or further investigation reveal that any Class should be expanded or narrowed, divided into additional subclasses under Rule 23(c)(5), or modified in any other way.
- 35. The following people and entities are excluded from the Class: (1) any Judge or Magistrate presiding over this action and the members of their family; (2) Defendant, Defendant's subsidiaries, parents, successors, predecessors, and any entity in which the Defendant or its parents have a controlling interest and their current employees, officers and directors; (3) persons who properly execute and file a timely request for exclusion from the Class; (4) persons whose claims in this matter have been finally adjudicated on the merits or otherwise released; (5) Plaintiff's counsel and Defendant's counsel; and (6) the legal representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded persons.

- 36. This action is properly brought and should be maintained as a class action under Rule 23(a), satisfying the class action prerequisites of numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequacy because:
- 37. <u>Numerosity</u>: Members of each Class are so numerous and geographically dispersed that individual joinder of all Class members is impracticable. The precise number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff but is likely to be ascertained by the Defendant's records. At a minimum, there likely are hundreds of thousands of Class members.
- 38. <u>Commonality</u>: There are questions of law and fact common to the proposed class(es). Common questions of law and fact include, without limitations:
 - a. whether Defendant's course of conduct alleged herein violates the statutes
 and other laws that are pled in this Complaint;
 - b. whether reasonable consumers would rely upon Defendant's representations about the Products and reasonably believe the Products' Protein Representation;
 - c. whether Defendant knew or should have known its representations were false or misleading;
 - d. whether Defendant was unjustly enriched by retaining monies from the sale of the Products;
 - e. whether certification of each Class is appropriate under Rule 23;
 - f. whether Plaintiff and the members of each Class are entitled to declaratory, equitable, or injunctive relief, and/or other relief, and the scope of such relief; and

- g. the amount and nature of the relief to be awarded to the Plaintiff and the Class, including whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to punitive damages.
- 39. <u>Typicality</u>: Plaintiff's claims are typical of the other Class members because Plaintiff, as well as Class members, purchased the Products. Plaintiff and the members of the Class relied on the representations made by the Defendant about the Products prior to purchasing the Products. Plaintiff and the members of each Class paid for Defendant's Products and would not have purchased them (or would have paid substantially less for them) had they known that the Defendant's representations were untrue.
- 40. <u>Adequacy</u>: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the proposed Class as his interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of the proposed Class he seeks to represent, and he has retained counsel competent and experienced in class action litigation. Thus, the interests of the members of the Class will be fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiff and his counsel.
- 41. **Predominance:** Pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3), the common issues of law and fact identified in this Complaint predominate over any other questions affecting only individual members of the Class. Class issues fully predominate over any individual issue because no inquiry into individual conduct is necessary; all that is required is a narrow focus on Defendant's misconduct detailed at length in this Complaint.
- 42. <u>Superiority</u>: A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation because individual litigation of each claim is impractical. It would be unduly burdensome to have individual litigation of hundreds of thousands of individual claims in separate lawsuits, every one of which would present the

issues presented in the Complaint/lawsuit. Further, because of the damages suffered by any individual Class member may be relatively modest in relation to the cost of litigation, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it difficult, if not impossible. Furthermore, many of the Class members may be unaware that claims exist against the Defendant.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF VIOLATION OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349 (On Behalf of Plaintiff and New York Class)

- 43. Plaintiff repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1-42 as if fully set forth herein.
- 44. New York General Business Law ("GBL") § 349 prohibits "[d]eceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any business, trade, or commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state."
- 45. The conduct of Defendant alleged herein constitutes recurring, "unlawful" deceptive acts and practices in violation of GBL § 349, and as such, Plaintiff and the New York Class members seek monetary damages and the entry of preliminary and permanent injunctive relief against Defendant, enjoining them from inaccurately describing, packaging, marketing, and promoting the Products.
- 46. Defendant misleadingly, inaccurately, and deceptively advertise and market its Products to consumers.
- 47. Defendant's improper consumer-oriented conduct promising on the Products' front labeling that the Products contain a specific number of grams of protein, when it contains fewer grams of protein than represented is misleading in a material way in that it, *inter alia*, induced Plaintiff and the New York Class members to purchase and pay a premium for Defendant's Products and to consume the Products when they otherwise would

not have. Defendant made its untrue and/or misleading statements and representations willfully, wantonly, and with reckless disregard for the truth.

- 48. Plaintiff and the New York Class members have been injured inasmuch as they paid a premium for Products that did not—contrary to Defendant's representations—contain the amount of grams of protein as promised on the Products' front labels. Accordingly, Plaintiff and the New York Class members received less than what they bargained and/or paid for.
- 49. Defendant's deceptive and misleading practices constitute a deceptive act and practice in the conduct of business in violation of New York General Business Law §349(a) and Plaintiff and the New York Class members have been damaged thereby.
- 50. As a result of Defendant's recurring, "unlawful" deceptive acts and practices, Plaintiff and the New York Class members are entitled to monetary, compensatory, statutory, treble and punitive damages, injunctive relief, restitution and disgorgement of all moneys obtained by means of Defendant's unlawful conduct, interest, and attorneys' fees and costs.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF VIOLATION OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 350 (On Behalf of Plaintiff and the New York Class)

- 51. Plaintiff repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1-42 as if fully set forth herein.
- 52. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of himself and the New York Class.
- 53. New York General Business Law § 350 provides, in part, as follows: "False advertising in the conduct of any business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state is hereby declared unlawful."
 - 54. GBL § 350-a(1) provides, in part, as follows:

The term "false advertising" means advertising, including labeling, of a commodity, or of the kind, character, terms or conditions of any employment opportunity if such advertising is

misleading in a material respect. In determining whether any advertising is misleading, there shall be taken into account (among other things) not only representations made by statement, word, design, device, sound or any combination thereof, but also the extent to which the advertising fails to reveal facts material in the light of such representations with respect to the commodity or employment to which the advertising relates under the conditions prescribed in said advertisement, or under such conditions as are customary or usual. ...

- 55. Defendant's representation on the labeling of the Products that the Products provide a specific number of grams of protein, but providing few grams of protein than promised, is a materially misleading representation inasmuch as they misrepresent the number of grams of protein in the Products.
- 56. Plaintiff and the New York Class members have been injured inasmuch as they relied upon the labeling of the Products and paid a premium for products that did not—contrary to Defendant's representations—contain the number of grams of protein as promised in the Products' Protein Representation. Accordingly, Plaintiff and the New York Class members received less than what they bargained and/or paid for.
- 57. Defendant's labeling of the Products induced Plaintiff and the New York Class members to buy Defendant's Products. Thus, Defendant made material misrepresentations about the Products.
- 58. Defendant made the foregoing untrue and/or misleading representations willfully, wantonly, and with reckless disregard for the truth.
- 59. Defendant's material misrepresentations were substantially uniform in content, presentation, and impact upon consumers at large. Moreover, all consumers purchasing the Products were and continue to be exposed to Defendant's material misrepresentations.

60. As a result of Defendant's recurring, "unlawful" deceptive acts and practices, Plaintiff and New York Class members are entitled to monetary, compensatory, statutory, treble and punitive damages, injunctive relief, restitution and disgorgement of all moneys obtained by means of Defendant's unlawful conduct, interest, and attorneys' fees and costs.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF VIOLATIONS OF BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY STATUTES (On behalf of Plaintiff and the New York Class)

- 61. Plaintiff repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1-42 as if fully set forth herein.
- 62. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of himself and the New York Class for breach of express warranty under N.Y. U.C.C. Law § 2-313.
- 63. Plaintiff and members of the New York Class formed a contract with Defendant at the time they purchased the Products. As part of that contract, Defendant represented on the front label of the Products that the Products contain a specific number of grams of protein, despite the Products not containing that amount of protein.
- 64. This representation constitutes an express warranty and became part of the basis of the bargain between Plaintiff and members of the New York Class, on the one hand, and Defendant, on the other.
- 65. Defendant made the representation to induce Plaintiff and members of the New York Class to purchase the Products, and Plaintiff and the New York Subclass relied on the representations in purchasing the Products.
- 66. All conditions precedent to Defendant's liability under the above-referenced contract have been performed by Plaintiff and the New York Class.
- 67. Express warranties by a seller of consumer goods are created when an affirmation of fact or promise is made by the seller to the buyer, which relates to the goods and

becomes the basis of the bargain. Such warranties can also be created based upon descriptions of the goods which are made as part of the basis of the bargain that the goods shall conform to the description.

- 68. Defendant breached the express warranties about the Products because, as alleged above, the Products do not contain the amount of protein as promised in the Products' Protein Representation.
- 69. As a result of Defendant's breaches of express warranty, Plaintiff and the New York Class members were damaged in the amount of the premium price they paid for the Products, in amounts to be proven at trial.
- 70. In June 2021, Plaintiff discovered this breach. On June 21, 2022, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, sent a notice and demand letter to Defendant providing notice of Defendant's breach.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF IN THE ALTERNATIVE, UNJUST ENRICHMENT (On behalf of Plaintiff and the New York Class)

- 71. Plaintiff repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1-42 as if fully set forth herein.
- 72. To the extent the Court finds that Plaintiff and the members of the New York Class did not form a contract with Defendant at the time they purchased the Products, Plaintiff brings this claim for unjust enrichment in the alternative, individually and on behalf of the New York Class.
- 73. Plaintiff and members of the New York Class purchased Defendant's Products and paid a premium for the Products. The Products' Protein Representation misrepresented the amount of protein in the Products, which commanded a price premium.

- 74. Defendant had knowledge of such benefit and obtained the benefit by its misrepresentation because the misrepresentation induced reasonable consumers to purchase the Products they would not otherwise have purchased or purchased at the advertised price.
- 75. Defendant appreciated this benefit and knowingly accepted it at the expense of, and to the detriment of, Plaintiff and members of the New York Class. Defendant currently retains this benefit.
- 76. Defendant's acceptance and retention of the benefits is inequitable and unjust because the benefit was obtained by Defendant's misconduct detailed at length in this Complaint.
- 77. Equity cannot in good conscience permit Defendant to be economically enriched for such action at the expense of Plaintiff and New York Class members, and therefore restitution and/or disgorgement of such economic enrichment is required.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF COMMON LAW FRAUD

(On behalf of Plaintiff and the New York Class)

- 78. Plaintiff repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1-42 as if fully set forth herein.
- 79. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of himself and the New York Class.
- 80. Defendant has willfully, falsely, and knowingly misrepresented the Products' amount of protein through the Products' Protein Representation, as they knew that the Products' contained less grams of protein per serving than represented.
- 81. Defendant has therefore made knowing, fraudulent misrepresentations as to the Products.
- 82. Defendant's misrepresentations were material (i.e., they affected Plaintiff and New York Class members' purchasing decisions given their importance), because they relate

to the central functionality of the Products as nutritional shake mixes, given that the Products contain fewer grams of protein than advertised.

- 83. Defendant knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that the Products did not contain the number of grams of protein as promised in the Products' Protein Representation.
- 84. Defendant intended that Plaintiff and members of the New York Class rely on the Protein Representation, as if they had known the truth of the protein levels in the Products, they would have less for the Products or would not have purchased them at all.
- 85. Plaintiff and members of the New York Class have reasonably and justifiably relied on Defendant's misrepresentations when purchasing the Products, and if Plaintiff and members of the New York Class had known the truth about the Products, they would not have paid monies for the Products or would have paid less monies for the Products.
- 86. For these reasons, Plaintiff and members of the New York Class have suffered monetary losses, including interest they would have accrued on these monies, as a direct and proximate result of Defendant's fraudulent conduct.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of other members of the proposed New York Class, respectfully request that the Court enter judgment in Plaintiff's favor and against Defendant as follows:

- Declaring that this action is a proper class action, certifying the New York
 Class as requested herein, designating Plaintiff as Class Representative
 and appointing the undersigned counsel as Class Counsel;
- b. A declaration or declaratory judgment that Defendant's conduct has violated and continues to violate the statutes and laws cited herein;

- c. An order enjoining Defendant to refrain from the acts and practices cited herein and to undertake an immediate public information campaign to inform members of the New York Class as to its prior practices;
- d. An order requiring imposition of a constructive trust and and/or disgorgement of Defendant's ill-gotten gains and to pay restitution to Plaintiff and members of the New York Class to restore all funds acquired by means of any act or practice declared by this Court to be an unlawful, fraudulent or unfair business act or practice;
- e. An award of damages, including all available statutory and punitive damages, pursuant to the statutes and the causes of action pled herein;
- f. Distribution of any monies recovered on behalf of members of the Class via fluid recovery or *cy pres* recovery where necessary and applicable, to prevent Defendant from retaining the benefit of its wrongful conduct;
- g. an award of all recoverable costs and expenses, including reasonable fees
 for Plaintiff's attorneys; and
- h. an award of pre- and post-judgment interest to Plaintiff and members of the New York Class if applicable; and, ordering further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff and members of the Class demand a jury trial on all issues so triable.

DATED: July 8, 2022 CUSTODIO & DUBEY, LLP

By: /s/ Robert Abiri

Robert Abiri (SBN 238681)

E-mail: abiri@cd-lawyers.com

445 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2520

445 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2520 Los Angeles, CA 90071 Telephone: (213) 593-9095 Facsimile: (213) 785-2899

Attorney for Plaintiff and the Putative Classes

JS 44 (Rev. 4-29-21) Case 2:22-cv-04023 Document 2-1 Filed 07/08/22 Page 1 of 2 PageID #: 26

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS	(22221222			DEFENDANT	S					
			KSF Acquisition Corporation							
(L)			· · ·							
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Nassau County (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)			County of Residence of First Listed Defendant Palm Beach County (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)					ty		
				NOTE: IN LAND O	CONDE	EMNATION LAND INVO	I CASES, USE TE OLVED.	HE LOCATION	OF	
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, A	Address, and Telephone Number)		Attorneys (If Known	n)					
II. BASIS OF JURISD	ICTION (Place an "X" in C	ne Box Only)		FIZENSHIP OF I (For Diversity Cases Only		CIPAL		Place an "X" in nd One Box for .		
1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	3 Federal Question (U.S. Government N	ot a Payty)			PTF	DEF	ncorporated or Pri	· ·	PTF 4	DEF 4
Fiamum	(O.S. Government N	oi a i ariy)	CILIZE	ii oi Tins State	1		of Business In Tl		4	□*
2 U.S. Government Defendant	X 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship	o of Parties in Item III)	Citize	en of Another State [2	2 In	ncorporated and Proof Business In A		5	X 5
Does this action include a moto show cause? Yes No	_	ing order or order		en or Subject of a [reign Country	3	3 F	oreign Nation		<u> </u>	<u> </u>
IV. NATURE OF SUIT										
CONTRACT 110 Insurance	TOF PERSONAL INJURY	RTS PERSONAL INJURY		DRFEITURE/PENALTY 5 Drug Related Seizure			RUPTCY 1 28 USC 158	375 False (STATUT	
120 Marine	310 Airplane	365 Personal Injury -		of Property 21 USC 881	ı	423 Withdr	rawal	376 Qui Ta	ım (31 US	
130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument	315 Airplane Product Liability	Product Liability 367 Health Care/		0 Other	L	28 US		3729(a 400 State F	Reapportion	nment
2 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment	320 Assault, Libel & Slander	Pharmaceutical Personal Injury				PROPERT 820 Copyri		410 Antitru 430 Banks		ng
151 Medicare Act 152 Recovery of Defaulted	330 Federal Employers' Liability	Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal			H	830 Patent	- Abbreviated	450 Comm 460 Deport		
Student Loans	340 Marine	Injury Product					rug Application	470 Racket	teer Influe	
(Excludes Veterans) 153 Recovery of Overpayment	345 Marine Product Liability	Liability PERSONAL PROPERT	гу 🔛	LABOR			l Trade Secrets	480 Consu	t Organiza mer Credit	
of Veteran's Benefits 160 Stockholders' Suits	350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle	370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending	71	0 Fair Labor Standards Act		Act of	2016	(15 U) 485 Teleph	SC 1681 or ione Const	
190 Other Contract	Product Liability	380 Other Personal	72	0 Labor/Management			SECURITY	Protec	tion Act	
195 Contract Product Liability 196 Franchise	360 Other Personal Injury	Property Damage 385 Property Damage		Relations 0 Railway Labor Act	Н	861 HIA (1 862 Black I	Lung (923)	490 Cable/ 850 Securi		odities/
	362 Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice	Product Liability	75	1 Family and Medical Leave Act	H	863 DIWC/ 864 SSID T	/DIWW (405(g)) Fitle XVI	Excha 890 Other		Actions
REAL PROPERTY 210 Land Condemnation	CIVIL RIGHTS 440 Other Civil Rights	PRISONER PETITION Habeas Corpus:		0 Other Labor Litigation 1 Employee Retirement		865 RSI (40	05(g))	891 Agricu 893 Enviro		
220 Foreclosure	441 Voting	463 Alien Detainee		Income Security Act			TAX SUITS	895 Freedo		
230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 240 Torts to Land	442 Employment 443 Housing/	510 Motions to Vacate Sentence			Ш		(U.S. Plaintiff endant)	Act 896 Arbitra	ation	
245 Tort Product Liability 290 All Other Real Property	Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities -	530 General 535 Death Penalty		IMMIGRATION		871 IRS—7	Third Party SC 7609	899 Admir	istrative P view or A	
270 Am Other Real Property	Employment	Other:		2 Naturalization Application	ion	20 00	,	Agenc	y Decision	
	446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other	540 Mandamus & Othe 550 Civil Rights	er 46	5 Other Immigration Actions				950 Consti State S		OI
	448 Education	555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee -								
		Conditions of Confinement								
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in								l		
		emanded from Appellate Court	4 Reins Reop	stated or 5 Trans sened Anoth	her Dis		6 Multidistric Litigation - Transfer		Multidis Litigation Direct F	on -
Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity): 28 U.S. C. § 1332										
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION Brief description of cause: Violation of NY Statutes, Breach of Express Warranty, Unjust Enrichment, Common Law Fraud										
VII. REQUESTED IN ☐ CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND \$ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. JURY DEMAND: ☐ Yes ☐ No										
VIII. RELATED CASI IF ANY	(See instructions):	JUDGE				DOCKET	NUMBER			
DATE		SIGNATURE OF ATT	TORNEY C	OF RECORD	+	<i>L</i>				
July 8, 2022					7-2					
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY										
RECEIPT # AM	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP		JUDGE			MAG. JUD	OGE		

Case 2:22-cv OLBEST FLOATMONT OF LARBOT RANDOM EPEGEBIOT PageID #: 27 Local Arbitration Rule 83.7 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of \$150,000, exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a certification to the contrary is filed.

certification	on to the contrary is fil	led.				
Case is Eli	igible for Arbitration					
I, Robert A			, counsel	forPlaintiff David Wittman	, do h	hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is ineligible for
compulsor	ry arbitration for the fo	ollowing reason(s):				
<u> •</u>	monetary	/ damages sought	are in exce	ess of \$150,000, exclusive of in	terest and	d costs,
F	the comp	olaint seeks injunct	tive relief,			
L	the matte	er is otherwise inel	igible for th	e following reason		
	<u> </u>	DISCLOSURI	E STATE	EMENT - FEDERAL R	ULES (CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1
		Identify any paren	t corporatio	on and any publicly held corpora	ation that	t owns 10% or more or its stocks:
		RELATED C	ASE ST	ATEMENT (Section V	III on t	the Front of this Form)
				,		<u> </u>
to another substantial deemed "re "Presumpti	civil case for purposes saving of judicial resou elated" to another civil o	of this guideline whe urces is likely to resu case merely because	en, because on It from assign the civil cas	of the similarity of facts and legal iss ning both cases to the same judge a e: (A) involves identical legal issues	ues or bec and magisti s, or (B) inv	front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a) provides that "A civil case is "related cause the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a trate judge." Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that "A civil case shall not be volves the same parties." Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that s shall not be deemed to be "related" unless both cases are still
			NY-E D	DIVISION OF BUSINESS	RULE	50.1(d)(2)
1.)	Is the civil actio County?	n being filed in Yes	the East	tern District removed fron No	n a New	w York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
2.)	If you answered a) Did the even County?		s giving r	ise to the claim or claims No	, or a su	ubstantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffol
	b) Did the even District?	ts or omissions Yes	s giving r	ise to the claim or claims No	, or a su	ubstantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
	c) If this is a Fair received:	Debt Collection	n Practice	Act case, specify the Coun	ty in wh	nich the offending communication was
	County, or, in an ir County?	nterpleader a <u>cti</u> o Yes	n, does th No	e claimant (or a majority of	the clain	ants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or mants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or as the most significant contacts).
				BAR ADMIS	SION	
	I am currently ad	mitted in the Fas	stern Distr	ict of New York and current	v a men	mber in good standing of the bar of this court.
			Yes			No
	Are you current			sciplinary action (s) in this	or anv	/ other state or federal court?
	7 o you our on			, ,		
		Ц	Yes	(If yes, please explain		No

I certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Eastern Dist	rict of New York
David Wittman, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,)))
Plaintiff(s)	,
v.) Civil Action No. 2:22-cv-04023
KSF Acquisition Corporation,)
Defendant(s))))
	,
SUMMONS II	N A CIVIL ACTION
To: (Defendant's name and address) KSF Acquisition Corpora c/o Corporate Creations 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building, Ste 104 Wilmington, DE 19810	
A lawsuit has been filed against you.	
are the United States or a United States agency, or an off P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an a	you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you icer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. nswer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of tion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, e 2520
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be You also must file your answer or motion with the court.	be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
	BRENNA B. MAHONEY CLERK OF COURT
Date:	
	Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. 2:22-cv-04023

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

was rec	This summons for (neeived by me on (date)	ame of individual and title, if an			
	☐ I personally serve	ed the summons on the ind			
			on (date)	; or	
	☐ I left the summon	as at the individual's reside	ence or usual place of abode with (name)		
		,	a person of suitable age and discretion v	who resides the	ere,
	on (date)	, and mailed a	copy to the individual's last known addre	ess; or	
	☐ I served the summ	nons on (name of individual)			, who is
	designated by law to	o accept service of process	on behalf of (name of organization)		_
			on (date)	; or	
	☐ I returned the sun	nmons unexecuted because	>		; or
	☐ Other (specify):				
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	for services, for a tota	ıl of \$0	0.00 .
	I declare under pena	lty of perjury that this info	rmation is true.		
Date:					
			Server's signature		
		_	Printed name and title		
		_	Server's address		

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Print Save As... Reset

ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable c	class action	<u>lawsuit database</u>
--	--------------	-------------------------